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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR. THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES, No. C 98-00085 CRB

C 98-00086 CRB. - -

Plaintiff, C 98-00087 CRB

. C 98-00088 CRB

v. : C 98-00245 CRB

CANNABIS CULTIVATORS CLUB etal, MEMORANDUM AND ORDER RE:
77 MOTIONS IN LIMINE AND ORDER
Defendants. TO SHOW CAUSE IN CASE NO. 98- .
/ 00086 (Marin Alliance for Medical
. . -—W————hfanjuana)
-and Related Cases.
/

Now before the Court are plaintiff’s motions in limine to exclude dcfcndants’

affirmative defenses and the Court’s Order to Show Cause why defendants are not in .-
wolauon of the Court’s May 19, 1998 order. After carefully considering the papcts and e
evidence submltted by the parties, and having had the benefit of oral argument on October 5,
1998, plaintiff’s motlons are GRANTED. The Court further orders that a jury shall
determine whether defendants violated the May 19, 1998 injunction.
BACKGROUND
Gn May 19, 1998, the Court issued an order preliminarily enjoining defendants

Marin Alliance for Medical Marijuana (“Marin Alliance”) and Lynnette Shaw from, among

other things, “engaging in the manufacture or distribution of marijuana, or the possession of




- District Court
‘District of California

tat
F'cxrtl'x,S 2

* United

)
1
{
1

t} Northery

L :

W

1 § marijuana with the intent to manufacture or distribute marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C.
§ 841(a)(1),” and “using the premises of Suite 210, School Street Plaza, Fairfax, California
for the purposes of engaging in the manufacture and distribution of manjuana.” The Court

spbsequenﬂy issued an order that defendants show cause “why they should not be held i in

marijuana and by using the premises of 6 School Street Plaza, Fairfax, California, for the

2

3

4

5 cml contempt of the Court’s May 19, 1998 Preliminary Injunctnon Order by distributing
6

7§ purpose of distributing marijuana, on May 27, 1998.” The Court’s show cause order was
8

based upon evidence submitted by plaintiff as follows: -

] -- (1) A declaration from Special Agent Bill Nyfeler of the Drug Enforcement =~ - -
10 § Administration (“DEA”) in which he attests that on May 27, 1998 he obscrvcd 14 individuals |~

11 § enter the Mann Alliance, located at 6 School Street Plaza in Fairfax, Cahforma He ﬁnthcr

12 -obscrvcd that several of these individuals, upon cxmng the Marin Alliance, would roll what -v _

13§ appeared to be marijuana cigarettes and smoke them in the area directly outside the Marin

14 Alliancc. In addition, that same day at approximately 3:15. p-m., he placed a recorded—-.

15 §| telephone call to the Marin Alliance, at (415) 256—9328 A pre-recorded message stated that

_the callechad-reached the Marm Alliance, and that the club was still open tinder the medlcal

" -
1

necessity defense.” . el

o
(<]

(2) A declaration from Special Agent Dean Amold of the DEA that on June 16, 1998
19 | he placed a recorded telephone call to the Marin Alliance at (415) 256-9328. An u_nidt_:ntiﬁgd

20 Hﬁnn&le answered the telephone by stating, “Marin Alliance,” and further informed the DEA~

21f agent about the requirements of becoming a new mermber of the Marin Alliance, and Atl;at thc
22§ club was open that day until “five.”

23} (3) Documentary evidence that as of August 21, 1998, the Marin Alliance maintained
24 § an Internet web sifc:- which indicated that the club was engaged in activities related to

25 | “medical marijuana.”

26 (4) Documentary evidence that defendant Lynnette Shaw has publicly stated that,

27 § notwithstanding the May 19, 1998 Preliminary Injunction Order, “[wl]e are still open seven

28 § days a week,” and “[sJhow me a Jury who will look at our patients and not understand the

i
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idea of medical marijuana being a necessity for these people.”

The Court’s show cause order specifically advised defendants that their response to
the order should include swomn declarations outlining the factual basis for any affirmative
defenses which they wish to offer.- B i
- In response to the show cause order, defendants argue (1) that plaintiff has not made a
prima facie showing t_haf defendants violated the Court’s injunction, (2) that in light of the
-evidence submitted by defendants, plaintiff has not proved by clear and convincing cvidcdce
that defendants violated the Court’s injunction, and (3) in the alternative, that-defendants
have submitted cvidcnoc-suﬁicicnt. to-support-their affirmative defenses of “joint user,”
“necessity,” and “substantive due process.” Defendants submit the declarations of Lynette
Shaw and Christopher P. M. Conrad, as well as a copy of Agent‘Nyfeler’; report-of his May
27,1998 surveillance of the Marin Alliance. Th;:y also incorporate declarations prcviousiy‘
submitted in this matter as well as the evidence submitted by co-defendant Oakland Canﬁébié
Buyers’ Cooperative.

To demonstrate that there is a factual dlspute as to defendants’ alleged contempt, Ms.

Fairfax Cahfomxa the Mann Alliance 1s located at 6 School Street Plaza, Suite 215. Shc

further declares that the building in which the Marin Alliance is located is two stories and

Ltoses at least eight diﬁ'ércnt tenants, and that at least four other businesses are loca odf
the fourth floor with the defendant Marin Alliance. She states that because smokmg is
banned in the building, persons on the second floor who desire to smoke cigarcﬁcs usually do
5o at an outdoor mezzanine located approximately twelve feet north of the Marin Alliance’s
front door, but that no cannabis smoking is permitted anywhere in the vicinity of the
buiiding.

| Defendants also offered new evidence to support their affirmative defenses. Ms.
Shaw testifies generally about the requirements fbr membership in the Marin Alliance. Mr.

Conrad has authored a book entitled Hemp for Health. He declares that based upon his

3 N

Shaw attests that although AgcntNyEclerchmns-m‘lnsreport'to have observed md1v1duals Al

coming in and out of the Marin Alliance located at 6 Old School Street Plaza, Suite 210, in -

S
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N situationsis-whether-the evxdcnce as described in the offer of proof, ISInSummcm as a T

research and review of scientific studies and relevant evidence, “there is virtually no
scientific basis for the placement of cannabis in Schedule L.” Defendants have not submitted
declarations from any Marin Alliance patients.

Plamnff subsequently moved in limine to exclude defendants’ affirmative defenses.

”

The Court held a hearing on the plaintiff’s motions in limine and thc Order to Show Cause on

’l).

October 5, 1998 and thereafter took the matter under submission.
DISCUSSION

I.  THE MOTIONS IN LIMINE. . -

- _A.  TheLegal Standard. ]
A defendant is entitled to have the judge instruct the jury on his theory of defense ‘

only if it is ““supported by law and has some foundation in evidence.”” W

Gomez-Qsorio, 957 F.2d 636, 642 (9th Cir. 1992); A district judge may preclude a partyj -

-ﬁ'om offering evidence in support of a defense, including a necessity defense, by grantmg a

 motion in limine. See LhmcsLStats:u.,Aguﬂar 883 F.2d 662, 692 (9th Cir. 1989); United.

States v. Dorrell, 758 F. 2d 427 430 (9th Cir. 1985). “The sole question prcscnted in such

_matter of law to support the proffered defense.” Dorrell, 758 F.2d at 430. “Ifit is, then the
trial court should exclude the defense and the evidence offered in support.” Id.
< B. 173 'Y 33 .

2% InUnited States v. Swiderski, 548 F-2d 445 (2nd Ci. 1977), defendants, husband and

wife, were charged with violatirig 21 U.S.C. § 841(a) by possessing cocaine with intent

distribute. See id. at 447. The Second Circuit held that “a statutory ‘transfer’ could not.
occur between two individuals in joint posscssiop of a controlled substance simultancously
acquired for their own usc.” United States v. Wright, 593 F.2d 105, 107 (9th Cir. 1979)
(discussing Swiderski). The court thus concluded that the trial judge erred by denying “the
jury the opportunity to find that the defendants, who bought the drugs in each other’s .
physical presence, intended merely to share the drugs” and thus, not to distribute them. Id.;
Swiderski, 548 F.2d at 450, |
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'Defendants contend nonetheless that because the Marin Alliance is run as a cooperative the

WO N L A W N

Swiderski involved a sunultancous purchase by-a- husband and wxfc who testified thcy

Defendants here, unlike the defendants in Swiderski, have not offered any cvidcncé of
the joint purchase of the nian'juéna they are alleged to have distributed on May 27, 1998.

manjuana is effectively purchased by all members simultaneously and thus they are entitled

; z; Swiderski instruction. The defendants made the same argument, based on a proffer of

essentially the same facts, in opposition to plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction.
The Court dcclincs to extend Swiderski to the facts as presented by defendants’

protfer namely a medical maﬁjuana cooperative. As the Court has previously noted,

intended to use the oontrollod substance immediately. Applymg Smdnskl toa medxcal
marijuana cooperative would extend Swiderski to a situation in which thc controlled
substance is not literally purchased 31multancously for immediate consumption. See Hmt;;d
Statcs_l.ﬁannahls_@mmam[sﬂuh 5 F.Supp.2d 1086, 1101 (N.D. Cal. 1998). In llght of .
the fact that Swiderski has never been so cxtcndcd, and in light of the fact that it has not been
adopted by the Ninth Circuit, the Court concludes that such a defense is not available on the
facts proffered by dcfendants asa- maﬁerwof—lawm;gly -defendants are precluded
from offering evidence and argument in support of a “joint user” defense at thexr contcmpt- -
trial. | -
+=.* Tobe entitled to a jury instruction on the defense of necessity, dcfcndants must oﬂ'cr
.evidence (1) that they were faced with a choice of evils and chose the lmsscr evﬂ (¥} they
acted to prevent imminent harm; (3) they reasonably anticipated a direct causal relationship
between their conduct and the harm to be averted; and (4) that there were no legal
alternatives to violating the la';v. See United States v. Aguilar, 883 F.2d 662, 693 (9th Cir.
1989). Defendants have produced evidence that marijuana has a medical benefit to many |
persons and that for some persons marijuana is the only drug that can alleviate their pain and
other debilitating symptoms. They also have submitted evidence that they carefully screen ‘

their members to ensure that they have a physician’s recommendation for marijuana use.

N
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Defendants, however, have not prodticed any evidence that the particular persons to whom
they distributed marijuana on May 27, 1998 (if, indeed, they did) had a legal necessity for
marijuana. ’

., Plaintiff argues that a necessity defense based upon a medical need for marijuana is

never available under any circumstances as a defense to a violation of the Controlled
Substances Act because Congress implicitly rejected such a defense by placing marijuana in
Schedule 1. The Court need not address this issue, however, because it concludes that
defendarits have failed to proffer sufficient evidence to support a defense of néccssity asa
.matter of law. ‘ : : B ———
In Aguilar, the Ninth Circuit considered a ﬁccwsity defense offer of proof similar to
that offered by defendants here. The Aguilar defendants were charged wi;h violations of the
irﬁmigmtion laws, arising from-their providing saﬁctuary to Central American refugees. s
With respect to the specificity required of a necessity offer of proof, . the court hcla'

Wc also doubt thc sufﬁcncncy of the proffcr to establlsh mumncnt harm The .

Instead, 1t refcrs to cncml atrocities oommltted by
Salvadoran, Guatemalan, and Mexican authorities. The only indication that == |

imminent harm was their proffer that they adopted a process to screen aliens in
order to assure themselves that those helped actually were in danger. This =~ - ==
- allcgatlon fails for lack of spccnf icity. o

Id. at 692 n. 28 (emphas:s added). Defendants proffer here likewise fails to spcc1fy that h
parucular Marin Alliance members to whom defendants provided manjuana on May 27
,1998 were in danger of imminent harm. As the Court has previously held in this lawsutt, Ifot
the necessity defense to be available * dg&udan]s_muld_hammmhnmgh_andﬂcm
patient to whom it provides cannabis is in danger of imminent harm; that the cannabis will
alleviate the harm fér that particular patient; and that the patient had no other aitemé(iv&c, for
example, that no other legal drug could have reasonably averted the harm.” United States v.
Cannabis Cultivators Club, 5 F.Supp.2d 1086, 1102 (N.D. Cal. 1998) (emphasis added).

Defendants have not even attempted to offer such proof. Instead, defendants offer
evidence that they carefully screen their members to ensure that each member has a
legitimate medical need for marijuana. In Aguilar, however, the Ninth Circuit held that such

6
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{l 1313 (9th Cir. 1998), petition for cert. filed 9/14/1998, for example, the di-s(Iict court

section 882(b) provides that ;‘[i]n case of an alleged violation of an injunction or restraining
order issued under this section, trial shall, upon demand of the accused, be by jury in
accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.” Plaintiff nonetheless argues that the
Court should f nd defendants in contempt without a jury trial bécausc plaintiff’s evidence of .
dcfcndants violation of the Court’s m)unctlon is uncontroverted.

In the Ninth Clrcmt, a cml contcmpt proceeding is a trial within the meaning of
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 43(a), rather than a hearing on a motion within the meaning
of Rule 43(c). See Hoffman v. Beer Drivers and Salesmen’s Local Union No: 888, 536 F.2d
1268,.1277 (9th Cir. 1976). A trial with live testimony, hox;vcvcr, 1s not always required--—

before contempt sanctions may be issued.” In Peterson v. Highland Music, Inc., 140 F.3d
commenced contempt proceedings by issuing an order to show cause. The court then had the
parties file affidavits and extensively brief the relevant issues. The court did not, howcvér,
hold an evidentiary hearing.(or trial) with live testimony. Instead, the district court issued its

contempt sanctions at the end of the hearing on the order to show cause.  See id. at 1324.

that while “ordinarily” a court should not impose contempt sanctions on the basis of - ‘

affidavits, ““[a] trial court may in a contempt proceeding narrow the issucs by requiring that
afﬁdav1ts on file be controverted by counter-affidavits and may thereafter treat as true the -
‘ﬁcﬁ set forth in uncontroverted affidavits.” Id. (quoting Hoffman, 536 F.2d at 1277) | Thc
court concluded that such procedurcs do not violate due process. B
In this case defendants have submitted evidence to controvert plaintiff’s declarations,
even though the Court has precluded defendants’ affirmative defenses. Ata minimum, there
is a dispute as to whether the government agent saw anyone enter or leave the Marin
‘Alliance. The agent’s report specifies that he observed people coming and going from the
Marin Alliance located in Suite 210. The defendants have offered evidence
that the Marin Alliance is located in Suite 215. Moreover, defendants have also offered

evidence that no cannabis smoking is permitted anywhere in the vicinity of the building, and

10 N\
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that the area in which the agent observed persons smoking what appeared to be marijuana is
the area where all persons on the second floor, including visitors and employees of other

building tcnants smoke tobacco cngarettes since smoking is prohibited indoors.

<. Plaintiff cites Baxlm,l’_almxgmm 425 U.S. 308, 319 (1976), for" the proposition that

defendants’ failure to deny that they distributed marijuana or used the premises for the -
purpose of dlstnbutmg marijuana amounts to an cvndcnt]ary admission that they violated the
injunction. S.cc_alsgﬂaLSQnLEcny 918 F.Supp. 1403, 1415-16 (W.D. Wash. 1996)
(following the “well- -recognized” principle that “advcrsc inferences may properly be drawn
from silence in civil cases”), aff'd, 124 F.3d 1124(9th Cir-1997). These cases merely hold
that it does not violate due process for a trier of fact to dmw an adverse inference based upon
a party’s silence. That inference, however, is an inference which may be drawn by the mcr
Qﬂ'agt Under 21 U.S.C. section 882(b), the trier of fact is a Jjury, not thxs ‘Court.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, plaintiff’s motions to preclude defendants’ affirmative
defenses of “joint user,” “necessity,” and “substantive due process,” are GRANTED. The |
Court further orders that a jufy will deeide—whé&ef-défcnﬂan&-?ibiétcd—%hc Court’s May 19,
1998 injunction by distributing marijuana or by using tle premises of 6 School Street Plaza,
Fairfax, California, for the purpose of distributing manjuana, on May 27, 1998. The parfies
are ordcred to appear in Courtroom 8 on Wednesday, October 21, 1998 at 2:30 pm.toseta
MaFdate

IT IS SO ORDERED.

CHARLES R.BREYER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Dated: October - /5 , 1998
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